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Preface

On June 30, 1993, Carlos A. Fernández, a lawyer and activist from San Francisco, California, testified before the House Subcommittee on Census, Statistics, and Postal Personnel on behalf of the Association of MultiEthnic Americans, an organization whose goal was “to promote a positive awareness of interracial and multiethnic identity.”1 Fernández proposed that Directive No. 15, the federal government’s guidelines for categorizing Americans by race and ethnicity, be “changed in order to allow the accurate counting of multiracial/ ethnic people.”2 Although he did not testify to it, Fernández’s worldview had been informed by both his own mixed background and the Hispanic Catholic view of race. In a 1992 essay, Fernández, the son of a Mexican father and an Anglo mother, speculated that the greatest contribution that Mexican Americans would give to America was “the reshaping of our attitudes about race and especially about race mixture.”3 He believed that the adoption of the Latin American concept of mestizaje—racial and cultural synthesis—would help Americans deal more effectively with the nation’s growing diversity. According to Fernández, the official acknowledgment of intermediate racial categories would be a “crucial step” in “breaking down traditional lines of social separation” and potentially provide “the basis for a unifying national identity.”4

Fernández’s testimony and the lobbying of the Association of MultiEthnic Americans were instrumental in encouraging the federal government to allow Americans to identify themselves as members of more than one race on the 2000 census questionnaire. Fernández was not the only Mexican American intellectual to embrace Mexico’s mixed racial and cultural heritage and to weigh its effect on both Mexican American identity and U.S. society. Indeed, even amid the heated rhetoric of the late 1960s pioneering Mexican American intellectuals, Ernesto Galarza, Herman Gallegos, and Julian Samora considered the heterogeneity implicit in the Mexican American experience to be an advantage. “What he lost in cultural compactness, in political hardening, even in defensive angers, he gained in range of social experience, in wider understanding of the kind of new society he was in, and in exposure to the tests and temptations of making one’s way toward a beckoning American way of life.”5 In 1970, during the high point of the Chicano Movement, Galarza warned activists of the pitfalls of defining themselves too narrowly both culturally and politically. “To me the notable thing [about the conquest of Mexico] is that the indigenous Mexican survived and multiplied until he put his genetic and cultural stamp on the mixed society that emerged. But this is not altogether what the [Chicano] activists are emphasizing currently. Out of the period of servitude they abstract something else, the brand of bondage, ‘We are a conquered people,’ they are saying.”6 Galarza knew that the rhetoric of ethnic separatism carried with it “an insidious danger” of becoming “the very racism” that Chicano activists were combating.7

In 1978, historian Manuel A. Machado, Jr., complained that “the academic advocates of chicanismo constantly point out the Indian heritage of the Mexican-American,” but refused to “deal with cultural hybridization for fear that it might negate the purity of the mythical Indian background.”8 He argued that “the cultural mestizaje that occurred in Mexico also blended with the Anglo to produce a value system within the Mexican-American community that is itself hybridized. Therefore, rejection of Anglo values by the Chicanos is really a rejection of one element of the Chicano culture.”9

By the mid-1970s, Chicano Movement intellectuals were grappling with the tension between their rhetoric of ethnic nationalism and the Mexican history of mestizaje. In 1976, writer Federico A. Sánchez published an essay in which he declared that Mexican Americans should “devote concentrated efforts toward resolving that dilemma that has afflicted Mexico for so long, mainly the conflict that is implicit in mestizaje. . . . It is time for us to affirm the fact that we are a hybrid culture, assimilate our past, and begin the arduous task of describing the Chicano cultural configurations.”10 But whereas Mexicans grappled with the tension between their Indian and Spanish heritages, Sánchez contended that Mexican Americans had yet another culture in the mix, the Anglo American. “The original conflict, altered now by time and geography, has taken on a third dimension,” he wrote.11

In 1979, anthropologist Carlos G. Vélez-Ibáñez suggested that mixture lay at the heart of the Mexican American culture. “We are a synthesis of myriad experiences—pan-human, multicultural, and multisocial. During the course of history, such experiences and continuing experiences are added as layers of meaning, layers of orders, layers of different and similar shared understandings, and, as a result of such experiences and the discarding of layers, we constantly ‘become.’ This is another way of saying that culturally we are neither Mexican nor Anglo-American, but we are of the American continent in a technologically complex society, with a complexity of experiences of moral orders.”12 In the same volume, Spanish professor Roberto R. Bacalski-Martínez described Mexican American culture in the Southwest as “incredibly ancient on the one hand, and surprisingly new on the other. Indian, Spanish, Mexican, and Anglo elements have gone into its formation, and they continue to affect it. In each case, the introduction of new elements began as a clash between two peoples which eventually resulted in a newer, richer culture.”13

In 1980, anthropologist James Diego Vigil attempted to meld the notions of Chicanismo, the ideology of the Chicano movement, and mestizaje into the concept of Chicanozaje. “Generally, Chicanozaje includes a historical awareness of the Chicanos’ role as oppressed members of a society,” he wrote. At the same time, he argued that Mexican Americans “now realize that their past is a complex one of multiple heritages . . . [and] because of this background a whole range of cultural variation is possible. Some can favor the European side, others the Indian, or they can move in between seeking the cultural style that fits them. Chicanozaje thus expands the boundaries of the age-old mestizaje tradition of Mexico. It is a fluid, dual cultural membership that gives a deeper meaning to the term ‘Chicano.’ ”14

Perhaps the most eloquent explorations of the meaning of mestizaje for both Mexican Americans and U.S. society were published in the 1990s. In 1992, essayist Richard Rodríguez reinterpreted the Indians’ role in the conquest of Mexico as triumphant:



The Indian stands in the same relationship to modernity as she did to Spain—willing to marry, to breed, to disappear in order to ensure her inclusion in time; refusing to absent herself from the future. The Indian has chosen to survive, to consort with the living, to live in the city, to crawl on her hands and knees, if need be, to Mexico City or L.A. I take it as an Indian achievement that I am alive, that I am Catholic, that I speak English, that I am an American. My life began, it did not end, in the sixteenth century.15





Rodríguez also turned Chicano-era racial rhetoric on its head by declaring that “the essential beauty and mystery of the color brown is that it is a mixture of colors.”16

In 2004, writer John Phillip Santos employed the idea of mestizaje to understand the effects of globalization as well as advances in molecular biology. He describes DNA as “a vast mestizo codex of our origins and diasporas across the planet going back to the beginning in unicellular biology,” and asks audiences whether they can “imagine [their] progeny remaining culturally the same as [them] for 10,000 years more?”17 As numbers and cultural confidence have grown, more Mexican American writers have speculated on the meaning of mestizaje. It was they who first rejected the English term “miscegenation”—with all its negative overtones—in favor of the more neutral—or has it become celebratory?—Spanish word. But none of them owned or originated the idea.

In fact, Mexico, a nation that has been grappling with the collision of cultures and races since its birth, has produced a remarkable body of thinking on the significance, challenges, and value of widespread racial and cultural mixture. While many other Latin American nations and cultures were the products of conquest and colonization, “Mexico alone is truly mestizo: it is the only nation in the hemisphere where religious and political—as well as racial—mestizaje took place.”18 As Mexican historian Enrique Krauze has written, mestizaje has been “absolutely central” to its history.19

By the early twentieth century, a wide range of intellectuals agreed that for better or worse “mestizaje was the essence of Mexicanness.”20 In 1950, poet Octavio Paz famously wrote that “the strange permanence of Cortés and [his translator and mistress] La Malinche in the Mexican’s imagination and sensibilities reveals that they are something more than historical figures: They are symbols of a secret conflict that we have still not resolved.”21 According to Paz, at the heart of Mexicanness is a “form of orphanhood, an obscure awareness that we have been torn from the All and an ardent search: a flight and a return, an effort to re-establish the bonds that unite us with the universe.”22

After the Mexican Revolution, intellectuals like Manuel Gamio helped turn the mestizo into the “ideological symbol of the new regime.”23 According to Gamio, the mestizo was the bearer of “the national culture of the future.”24 In 1916 he wrote that it was time for Mexico’s leaders to “grab hold of the blacksmith’s hammer and don his leather apron to forge from the miraculous anvil the new nation of blended bronze and iron.”25 But the most influential “cultist of mestizaje” was writer, philosopher, and politician José Vasconcelos.26 Challenging contemporary European notions that held that mixed people were inferior to “pure” races, Vasconcelos considered the mestizo to be the “bridge to the future.”27 “I have said that humanity is going back to Babel and by this I mean that the day of the isolated civilization is over. In this new coming-together of all the races we ought not to repeat the methods of the past, the methods that transformed Babel into a curse.”28

Though he denied it, Vasconcelos sought to create a mythology for a people who had suffered from feelings of inferiority. He wanted mestizos to know their place in history:



We are a new product, a new breed, not yet entirely shaped. . . .Many of our failings arise from the fact that we do not know exactly what we want. . . . Democracy and equal opportunities for every man has been the motto of the great American nation. Broadness, universality of sentiment and thought, in order to fulfill the mission of bringing together all the races of the earth and with the purpose of creating a new type of civilization, is, I believe, the ideal that would give us in Latin America strength and vision.29





Despite Vasconcelos’s efforts, by the start of the twenty-first century, Mexico still had not fully come to terms with its mixed heritage. As journalist Alan Riding observed, even today “Mexico searches endlessly for an identity, hovering ambivalently between ancient and modern, traditional and fashionable, Indian and Spanish.”30 On the one hand, noted anthropologist Claudio Lomnitz-Adler, “Mexico is a society where Indian ancestry has been proudly acknowledged,” and on the other, it “clearly values whiteness as both a status symbol and as an aesthetic.”31 Nonetheless, rampant mestizaje and the legacy of the colonial caste system had “created a society where people manipulated their ethnic identity in order to scale the status hierarchy.”32 As a result, Mexicans developed—in the words of Mexican American poet Gloria Anzaldúa—“a tolerance for contradictions, a tolerance for ambiguity,” particularly in the realm of race and culture.33

Of course, Mexican Americans are not the only Latin American– origin people in the United States, but at two-thirds of all Latinos, they are by far the largest Hispanic group and with the deepest historical roots.34 They long have made up the second-largest minority in the United States, and within a few decades they will become the majority in the two most populous states in the country, California and Texas. Cumulatively over time, Mexicans have surpassed Germans to become the largest immigrant group in the history of the United States.

Because Mexican history has been characterized by widespread mestizaje—both cultural and racial—the Mexican American experience cannot be understood through the dichotomy of cultural resistance versus assimilation. Nor can the Latinization of the United States be viewed as the mere addition of a new color to the multicultural rainbow. For much of Mexican American history, advocates fought to be included on one side or the other of the American racial divide. Before 1970, they sought to be recognized as whites, while afterward they insisted on being “people of color.” But the mass demographic shift of the late twentieth century has facilitated the resurgence of the Hispanic Catholic view of race in the Southwest, which is subsuming the region’s entire color spectrum. Not only are Mexican Americans freer to insist on their racial “otherness,” but by creating a racial climate in which intermarriage is more acceptable they are breaking down the barriers that have traditionally served to separate whites and nonwhites in the United States. It is not a coincidence that “the southwestern United States is more permissive of intermarriage”—of all types—“than the rest of the U.S.”35 In 1990 Los Angeles County had an intermarriage rate five times the national average.36 More than two-thirds of the county’s intermarriages involved Latinos.37 Similarly, in 1997, two-thirds of multiracial and multiethnic births in California involved a Latino parent.38 Anglo Latino children are, by far, the most common mixture for interracial/ interethnic children in the state.

 As had occurred in the mid-nineteenth century, contemporary Mexican-Anglo marriages serve to ease tensions between the groups. The children of such marriages are symbols of the convergence of cultures. Today, many of those children are brought up with a Latino identity. Indeed, whereas only 43 percent of children born to Hispanic/ non-Hispanic couples were reported as Hispanic in 1970, nearly two-thirds were identified as Latinos in 2000.39 As it has for centuries, Hispanicity continues to absorb rather than exclude the cultures it encounters and thus redefines itself as it moves northward. Both biological and cultural mestizaje remain an essential characteristic of the Mexican experience in the United States. In the 1990s, 32 percent of second-generation and 57 percent of third-generation Latinos married outside their ethnic group.40 Barry Edmonston at the Population Research Bureau in Portland, Oregon, projects that by the year 2100, the number of Latinos claiming mixed ancestry will be more than two times the number claiming a single background.41 “Through this process of blending by marriage in the U.S.,” says economist and immigration scholar James P. Smith, “Latino identity becomes something even more nuanced.”42

Of course, the immigrant generation continues to live largely apart from mainstream American society. Today as always, immigrant communities serve, in the words of scholar Milton M. Gordon, “as a kind of decompression chamber in which the newcomers [can], at their own pace, make a reasonable adjustment to the new forces of a society vastly different from that which they had known in the Old World.”43 Particularly for noncitizens, Mexican immigrants tend to limit their civic participation to activities organized around language or country of origin. But latter-generation Mexican Americans, according to one study on voluntarism, “are more likely to be involved with mainstream groups than with Hispanic organizations.”44 In 1992, the Latino National Political Survey revealed that less than 5 percent of Mexican American respondents had either joined or contributed money to any ethnic-based organizations.45 Indeed, with the exception of some scattered homegrown social service organizations and political groups, Mexican Americans have developed very little parallel ethnic infrastructure. There is no private Mexican American college in the United States. In Los Angeles, there is no ethnic-Mexican hospital, cemetery, college, or broad-based charity organization.

As they have throughout their history, Mexican Americans continue to seek a balance between continuity and change. In 2000, a national poll found that 89 percent of Latinos considered it important “for Latinos to maintain their distinct cultures.” The same survey also revealed that 84 percent believed it was important “for Latinos to change so that they blend into the larger society as in the idea of the melting pot.”46

At the start of the twenty-first century, the pull toward the mainstream has grown stronger than ever. The late 1990s and early 2000s saw a growing number of Mexican American politicians and entertainers gain national prominence. These political and cultural icons help normalize the image of Mexican Americans and strip them of their foreignness. In 2003, Lieutenant General Ricardo Sánchez, of Starr County, Texas, which is 98 percent Mexican American, became the commander of the allied forces in Iraq. Two years later, Alberto Gonzales, former White House legal counsel to President George W.Bush, became the first Mexican American U.S. attorney general. After building a broad electoral coalition, in July 2005 former California Assembly Speaker Antonio Villaraigosa became the first Mexican American mayor of Los Angeles since 1872. His inaugural address signaled the triumph of the ethnic over the racial narrative for Mexican Americans. His speech included four lines in Spanish, presumably designed to reach recent immigrants. “How beautiful this country is!” he said. “I am proof that the United States is a country of opportunities and freedom. In what other country in the world could I stand before you as the mayor of a great city?”47

In one form or the other, the notion of the melting pot has been at the center of America’s national mythology since the eighteenth century. In 1782, J. Hector St. John de Crèvecoeur famously described America as a land where individuals from across Europe were melted into “a new race of man, whose labors and posterity will one day cause great changes in the world.”48 In the early twentieth century, playwright Israel Zangwill helped promote the civic faith that the fusion of ethnicities created a stronger American nation. In his 1908 drama, The Melting Pot, about a Jewish immigrant rejecting his faith’s prohibition against intermarriage, Zangwill depicted the United States as both a safe harbor and a crucible that melted Old World ethnics into a distinctly new American culture. At the same time, however, Zangwill agreed that whites were justified in avoiding intermarriage with blacks. He would recognize only that “spiritual miscegenation” between black and white had enriched American culture.49 In other words, throughout U.S. history access to the melting pot has been implicitly understood as being limited to ethnic whites.

Mexican Americans are forcing the United States to reinterpret the concept of the melting pot to include racial as well as ethnic mixing. Rather than abetting the segregationist ethos of a country divided into mutually exclusive groups, Mexican Americans continue to blur the lines between “us” and “them.” Just as the emergence of the mestizos undermined the Spanish racial system in colonial Mexico, Mexican Americans, who have always confounded the Anglo American racial system, will ultimately destroy it, too.
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One

The Birth of a People

On February 10, 1519, Hernán Cortés, along with a crew of roughly five hundred men and a handful of women, sailed west from Cuba to explore the Mexican mainland. Two previous Spanish expeditions had already reached the eastern coast of Mexico where they had heard stories of a wealthy Indian kingdom in the interior of the country. Hoping to discover great riches, Governor Diego Velázquez of Cuba had commissioned Cortés to explore and conquer new territories.

After weathering several days on stormy seas, Cortés and his eleven-ship squadron made landfall on the island of Cozumel. There a friendly band of Mayans informed Cortés that some years before two Christians had been taken captive in the neighboring land of Yucatán. The chief of Cozumel rejected the Spanish captain’s request that he send a search party to locate the captured Europeans. He feared that, “were he to do that, his messenger would be captured and eaten.”1 Undeterred, Cortés dispatched his own messengers to bargain for the captives’ release. The scouts took trinkets for ransom and a letter from Cortés that one man concealed in his hair.

The messengers found the two men—Jerónimo de Aguilar and Gonzalo Guerrero—living in very different conditions. The two had been the only survivors of a group of men whose boat ran aground in 1511. They had taken to the boat when their ship, which was sailing from the coast of Panamá to Santo Domingo, struck shoals on some islands near Jamaica. Their boat eventually caught a westward current that cast them ashore in Yucatán. By that time, half the men were dead.

The eighteen survivors were soon captured by Mayans. Five were sacrificed, their bodies eaten in a religious ceremony. The remaining thirteen were imprisoned to be fattened up for another day. Somehow they managed to escape their captors and took refuge with another Mayan chief, Xamanzana, who enslaved them. Before long, all died except for Aguilar and Guerrero.

When Cortés’s messengers found Aguilar, he was still a slave desperately trying to hold on to Spanish ways. “He concentrated his mind by counting the days but, by the time he was liberated . . . he thought that it was a Wednesday, not a Sunday.”2 After he “read the letter and received the ransom, he carried the beads delightedly to his master . . . and begged leave to depart. The Cacique [local chief] gave him permission to go wherever he wished.”3 He then set out to find Guerrero, who lived some fifteen miles away. Guerrero not only was no longer being held captive, he had married the daughter of Na Chan Can, a Mayan nobleman. Guerrero’s response to Cortés’s letter and to Aguilar’s entreaties astounded his would-be liberator. Guerrero had assimilated so thoroughly into Mayan life that he no longer felt he would be accepted by his Spanish countrymen. His face was tattooed and his ears were pierced. “What would the Spaniards say if they saw me like this?” he asked.4

Guerrero’s Mayan wife angrily interrupted her husband’s conversation with Aguilar. She demanded to know why “this slave” had “come here to call my husband away?”5 Before Aguilar left, Guerrero explained to him the primary reason he could not leave. “Brother Aguilar,” he said. “I am married and have three children, and they look at me as Cacique here, and a captain in time of war.”6 He then pointed to his children and said, “Ya veis estos mis tres hijitos [que bonitos] son” (“Now look at my three children, how beautiful they are!”).7 Guerrero was describing Mexico’s first mestizos, its first mixed Indian/European people.

News of Guerrero’s refusal to join his expedition angered Cortés. Like most Spaniards of the era, the captain could not fathom why a European would choose to live the life of a pagan. According to historian Hugh Thomas, at the time of the conquest of Mexico, “The Spanish had unbounded confidence in their own qualities, in the political wisdom of their imperial mission, and in the spiritual superiority of the Catholic Church.”8 The recently completed reconquista, the expulsion of the Muslims and Jews from the Iberian Peninsula, had forged a militant Christianity that played an integral role in Spanish expansionism in the early sixteenth century. Indeed, religious conversion served as the legal justification for Spain’s overseas adventures.

But this religious motive was not mere legal window dressing. Evangelization was a vital part of the sixteenth-century Spanish worldview. According to historian Lewis Hanke, “Between the two poles—the thirst for gold and the winning of souls . . . a variety of mixed motives appeared.”9 Some friars were as greedy as the most rapacious conquistadors, while some conquistadors were as sincere in their efforts to Christianize the Indians as the most devout priests. However, for many Spaniards, the spiritual and material motives were inextricably intertwined. As conquistador and chronicler Bernal Díaz del Castillo put it: “We came here to serve God, and also to get rich.”10 The early Spanish expeditions were “missions of discovery, conquest, settlement, and conversion,” all in one.11

The religious imperative of the conquest of Mexico, however imperfectly and unevenly applied, led the Spaniards to engage intimately in the social, cultural, material, and spiritual lives of the Indians they encountered. After a contentious debate over the nature of the Indian, in 1537, Pope Paul III issued a bull, Sublimus Dei, which declared that “Indians are truly men” and “capable of understanding the Catholic Faith.”12 While this in no way meant that Indians would not suffer abuse at the hands of Spaniards, it did mean that the Spanish, the only European empire that openly debated the “purposes of their expansion,” would ultimately seek to incorporate Indians into their Christian civilization.13 Through the centuries, Catholics had already borrowed and absorbed a huge number of rituals and symbols from the peoples they had converted. This willingness to accept blending in the theological realm presaged a relative tolerance of racial mixing. Indeed, the large-scale mixing that would occur in Mexico over the next several centuries was due, according to historian C. E. Marshall, “in no small degree to a humanitarian spirit which found its roots in the tenets of the Catholic religion.”14



The instructions that Governor Velázquez had drawn up for Cortés’s expedition prohibited blasphemy, the playing of cards, and sleeping with—and even teasing—native women. But from the very first landing at Cozumel, the rules were broken. There, Cortés reprimanded his incorrigible friend Pedro de Alvarado for seizing “turkeys, men, women, and ornaments from the temple.”15 Hoping to avoid confrontations with the Mayans in Yucatán, Cortés directed the expedition to proceed toward the coast of the present-day Mexican state of Tabasco, where they anchored at Potonchan. It was there (probably near the present-day town of Frontera) that Cortés and his men had their first major battles with the Indians. It was also there that it became evident that the subjugation of Mexico would involve an “amorous” as well as a military conquest.16

After a bloody struggle with Mayan warriors in Potonchan, Cortés sent 250 men to the village of Centla to seek food. There, for the first time in the Americas, the Spaniards used horses in battle. Though outnumbered by a significant margin, the Spaniards lost not a single man in either battle, although dozens were wounded. The Indians suffered hundreds of losses. After their warriors withdrew, thirty finely dressed emissaries approached the Spaniards with “fowls, fruit, and maize cakes.”17 Later, the lord of Potonchan came and offered more food and gifts, including objects of turquoise and gold. According to Bernal Díaz, however, those “gifts were nothing . . . compared to the twenty women whom they gave us.”18 Before Cortés distributed the women among his captains, one of the two priests on the expedition, Father Bartolomé de Olmedo, baptized them. They were the first women in New Spain, the name the Spaniards would later give conquered Mexico, to become Christians.

The young woman whom Cortés presented initially to his good friend Alonso Hernández Puertocarrero was christened Doña Marina. Bernal Díaz described her as “good looking, intelligent, and self-assured.”19 Her original name was Malinali, which was also the word for the twelfth month in the Aztec calendar. She was born on the boundary between areas controlled by the Chontal Mayans and the Aztecs, and therefore spoke both Chontal Mayan and Nahuatl, the lingua franca of the Aztec empire, which stretched from central Mexico to present-day Guatemala and from the Pacific Ocean to the Gulf coast. Her father had been tlatoani—“leader” in Nahuatl—of Painala, a village near the present-day city of Coatzacoalcos in the state of Veracruz. Her mother ruled Xaltipan, a small village nearby. But when her father died, Marina’s mother remarried another local leader and gave birth to a son whom they chose to be their heir. Marina was then sold to some merchants from Xicallanco, a nearby port, and declared dead. Her first owners then traded her to Mayan merchants, who, in turn, sold her to the people of Potonchan.

Marina’s bilingualism and her talent for languages made her indispensable to the Spaniards from early on. Indeed, the expedition would first encounter the Nahuatl language not far from Potonchan on the coast of Veracruz. Up to that point, Cortés had depended on Jerónimo de Aguilar, the shipwrecked man whose freedom the Spaniards had bought in Yucatán. “Aguilar, who had served the party well in Yucatan and Tabasco, was suddenly faced with an unfamiliar language. It was then that Marina was observed speaking with the most recently encountered [Indians].”20 Once Cortés learned of her bilingualism, he appointed her his interpreter and gave Hernández Puertocarrero another Indian woman. Marina’s knowledge of Nahuatl as well as Mayan enabled her to communicate first with Nahuatl speakers and translate their words into Mayan for Aguilar, who could then speak them in Spanish to Cortés. But once Marina learned enough Spanish, Cortés was able to cut out the middleman. In any case, Aguilar’s knowledge of Yucatec Mayan became less useful to Cortés as the Spaniards marched westward away from the Mayan-speaking coastal regions and toward the Nahuatl-speaking Valley of Mexico. The Indians—both the friendly and the hostile—whom the Spaniards encountered “came to think of [Marina] as Cortés’s voice; indeed, they assimilated the two persons to such an extent that they would refer to Don Hernán as ‘Malinche,’ ” or master of Marina.21 As the Spaniards descended upon Tenochtitlán, the Aztec capital, Marina became both the go-between for all crucial communications with the Indians as well as Cortés’s mistress. In 1522, she gave birth to a son, Martín, whom Cortés legitimized in 1529 through a bull issued by Pope Clement VII. Also through the efforts of his father, Martín was later made a Knight of the Order of Santiago, one of the most prestigious military orders of Spain.

The Aztecs and their Nahuatl-speaking tributaries referred to Doña Marina reverentially as Malintzin, there being no distinction between r and l in Nahuatl. The -tzin was an honorific, like doña in Spanish. Oddly enough, “La Malinche” is the name by which contemporary Mexicans remember her. For three centuries, both Spanish and indigenous sources portrayed Doña Marina as a powerful woman who was afforded great respect. The sixteenth-century mestizo historian Diego Muñoz Camargo, who was a child when Marina died, described her as being as beautiful as a goddess. But in the nineteenth century, after Mexico gained its independence from Spain, new depictions “condemned her role in the Conquest” of the Aztecs and gave rise to the peculiarly Mexican concept of malinchismo, a term used to describe the “rejection and betrayal of one’s own.”22 But though her people spoke Nahuatl, Marina was not Aztec. Nor at the time of the conquest did indigenous people even have a word for a large-group category such as Indians. “Self-definition and differentiation between indigenous groups was primarily in terms of the altepetl, [a] type of local kingdom.”23 As historian Frances Karttunen explained, as a slave being traded from place to place, Doña Marina “saw her best hope of survival in Cortés and served him unwaveringly.”24

It is somehow fitting then that Marina became instrumental in Cortés’s strategy of leveraging indigenous resentment of imperial Tenochtitlán. In the early sixteenth century, central Mexico was “not a homogenous state, but a conglomerate of populations, defeated by the Aztecs who [occupied] the top of the pyramid.”25 Cortés skillfully appealed to those groups whom the Aztecs had subjugated as the lesser of two evils, “as a liberator, so to speak, who [would permit] them to throw off the yoke of a tyranny especially detestable because so close at hand.”26

When the Spaniards reached Cempoala, the main city of the Totonac Indians, located in the present-day state of Veracruz, they were welcomed enthusiastically. According to Bernal Díaz, “they gave us food and brought us some baskets of plums, which were very plentiful at that season, also some of their maize-cakes.”27 The Totonac chief, a very obese man whom Díaz simply called the “fat Cacique,” unburdened himself to Cortés and complained bitterly of “the great Montezuma and his governors, saying that the [Aztec] prince had recently brought him into subjection, had taken away all his golden jewelry, and so grievously oppressed him and his people that they could do nothing except obey him.”28 The Aztecs had confiscated their arms and enslaved some of their people. Of the many indignities they suffered few were more humiliating than the tax-collectors’ practice of raping their most handsome women.

The Aztecs, who called themselves the Mexica, the origin of the word “Mexico,” maintained several garrisons near the Veracruz coast. Sometimes the Totonacs sent their tribute—often the cotton clothing that was popular on that coast—to the local garrisons, which then delivered it to Tenochtitlán. At other times, Totonac porters carried the goods directly to the Mexican capital. The annual burden of their tribute payments made the Totonacs predisposed to welcome the Spaniards. In fact, they were among the Aztecs’ most resentful subjects. After explorer Juan de Grijalva visited their stretch of coastline the previous year, the Totonacs were sorry to see him go. They gave Grijalva a girl “so finely dressed that, had she been in brocade, she could not have looked better.”29

To cement their people’s relationship with the Spaniards, the Cempoalan caciques presented Cortés with eight girls of high rank. According to Bernal Díaz, they “were dressed in the rich shirts that they wear, and finely adorned as is their custom. Each one of them had a gold collar round her neck and golden earrings in her ears, and with them came other girls to be their maids.”30 As the fat chief presented the girls, he said to Cortés, “ ‘Tecle’ (which in their language means lord) ‘these seven women are for your captains, and this one, who is my niece, is for you.’ ”31 He explained that now that they were allies, “they would like to have us for brothers and to give us their daughters to bear us children.”32

Though Cortés accepted the girls “with a gracious smile,” he took advantage of the moment to preach the Christian gospel and condemn the Cempoalans’ faith.33 He told the caciques that before he “could accept the ladies and become their brothers, they would have to abandon their idols which they mistakenly believed in and worshipped, and sacrifice no more souls to them; and that when he saw those cursed things thrown down and the sacrifices at an end, our bonds of brotherhood would be very much firmer.”34 The Spaniards were particularly revolted by the Indians’ practice of offering human sacrifices to their gods. Each day of the Spaniards’ visit, the Cempoalans sacrificed “three, four, or five Indians, whose hearts were offered to those idols and whose blood was plastered on the walls.”35

Cortés promised the caciques new provinces to control if they became Christians. When they balked at destroying their gods themselves, insisting that the very act would lead to their demise, Cortés was infuriated. The Indians wept and prayed when fifty Spanish soldiers later smashed the stone images. According to Hugh Thomas, the Totonacs were “astonished at the Castilian insistence. They were accustomed to seeing the gods of the defeated being destroyed. But victors, as they thought that they were themselves, never made such a concession.”36 The Spaniards then had the temple whitewashed and a cross and picture of the Virgin placed within it.

Before they departed Cempoala, the Spaniards celebrated a mass at which the caciques and others were present. The eight girls that were presented to the Spaniards were baptized and given Christian names.“The fat Cacique’s niece, who was very ugly, received the name Doña Catalina and was led up to Cortés, who received her with a show of pleasure.”37 The daughter of a nobleman named Cuesco was given the name Doña Francisca. According to Díaz, “she was very beautiful, for an Indian, and Cortés gave her to Alonso Hernández Puertocarrero,” who was evidently pleased.38

Two months later, peace was achieved in the same manner with Tlaxcala, an independent Indian nation that had resisted Aztec military incursions for many years. Despite their enmity for the Aztecs, the Tlaxcalans were also suspicious of the Spaniards and were determined to halt their forward march. Amassing a large number of warriors, they attempted to envelop Cortés’s men, only to be repelled and routed. It was in Tlaxcala that the Spaniards’ remarkable military prowess against a much larger Indian force was first demonstrated.

When Cortés finally entered Tlaxcala on September 18, 1519, he was warmly received. His soldiers were lodged in beautiful houses near the main temple. They, along with their Totonac and other indigenous allies, were well fed and cared for. Gracious in defeat, the Tlaxcalan chiefs “presented Cortés with more than three hundred beautiful women, good-looking and well-attired,” who had been slaves destined to be sacrificed to the gods.39 According to historian Diego Muñoz Camargo, after seeing “how well off [the slave girls] were among the Spaniards, the same caciques and princes gave their own daughters” to the Spaniards.40 They hoped that they would become pregnant so that “there would remain among them offspring of men so brave and feared.”41 The Tlaxcalan chief, Xicotencatl, presented his daughter Tecuelhuatzin to Cortés, saying, “ ‘She is unmarried and a virgin. Take her for yourself’—he put the girl’s hand in his—‘and give the others to your captains.’ ”42 But after she was baptized, Cortés gave Tecuelhuatzin, christened Doña Luisa, to his friend Pedro de Alvarado, reassuring her father that “he must be glad, since she would receive good treatment.”43 Just as the Spaniards gave the converted daughters of Indian noblemen the honorific of doña, the Tlaxcalans also accorded them great respect. Doña Luisa was showered with presents, and considered as powerful as a ruler. She and Alvarado would have two children, a son, Pedro, and a daughter, Leonor, who would one day marry a Spanish nobleman with whom she had several sons.

The beautiful daughter of another cacique, Maxixcatzin, was christened Doña Elvira, and given to Captain Juan Velázquez de León. Captains Gonzalo de Sandoval, Cristóbal de Olid, and Alonso de Avila were also given women. “From then on, all the senior commanders seem to have had indigenous girls attached to them. . . . Within a few weeks, many ordinary soldiers seem to have found girls too.”44

By then, Cortés was in regular contact with the emissaries of Montezuma, the Aztec emperor. When word got back to Tenochtitlán that the Tlaxcalans were “giving their daughters to Malinche,” Montezuma knew that “this alliance could do [the Aztecs] no good.”45 According to anthropologist Pedro Carrasco, “the donation of women as a way of establishing and maintaining political relations was customary in ancient Mexico.”46 Muñoz Camargo explains that among the Indians, “the rulers took absolutely whichever woman they wanted, and they were given to them as men of power.”47 But clearly sexual relations between the Spaniards and the Indians were not all governed by diplomatic protocol. As historian Asunción Lavrin observed, “From voluntary offer to open demand was only a short distance,” and “The degree of abuse of such sexual contacts will remain unmeasurable.”48 In his chronicles of the conquest, Bernal Díaz repeatedly makes mention of soldiers looking for “spoil, especially of good looking Indian women.”49 On one occasion, according to Díaz, Spaniards formed “groups of fifteen or twenty and went pillaging the villages, forcing the women and taking cloth and chickens as if they were in the Moorish country to rob what they found.”50 For the priests on the expedition, the incidents of sexual assaults were deeply disturbing. As they attempted to preach the Christian Gospel, “they seemed unable or unwilling to control the behavior of male Spaniards for some time.”51

In other words, while some women were “given” to the Spaniards, others were taken by force. Still, as their march progressed—and ultimately triumphed—other indigenous women “joined the conquerors by choice.”52 “The process of conquest resulted in a meeting of the sexes that broke—temporarily—the established rules of personal conduct in both Spanish and indigenous societies.”53 The women who accompanied the Spaniards “cooked for their men, nursed their wounds, carried their belongings, and shared their beds.”54 According to historian R. C. Padden, “However strenuous the fighting was at times, love-making was just as intense, certainly more frequent, and of infinitely greater consequence.”55

From their first contact in the New World, Spaniards responded to the Indians with either “attraction or repugnance.”56 In general, however, they had “an agreeable impression” of their physical appearance.57 Columbus described the first Indians he saw as “well put-together, with beautiful bodies and faces.”58 In 1519, a servant on Cortés’s expedition wrote a letter home in which he mentioned the beautiful women he saw in Yucatán. Particularly if their people had surrendered to the Spaniards and agreed to become vassals of the king of Spain, “association with the conquistadores offered many advantages” to Indian women.59

The Tlaxcalans not only gave Cortés women but also thousands of warriors to accompany the Spaniards on their descent into Tenochtitlán. They played a crucial role in the next great battle, which took place in Cholula, the most populous indigenous center the Spaniards had yet seen. Cholula was only sixty miles from Tenochtitlán and was an ally of the Aztecs, who were plotting to trap the Spaniards. When Cortés arrived, the Cholulan caciques were reluctant to greet him. But once they did make their appearance they pledged their friendship to the Spaniards and offered tribute. This peaceful accord did not last long. Doña Marina got wind of a plot to ambush Cortés’s contingent. Thirty thousand Aztec warriors had assembled just outside the city.

Outraged by their deceit, Cortés signaled for the Spaniards’ Tlaxcalan and Cempoalan allies to join the Spaniards in a horrible massacre at Cholula. Approximately six thousand Cholulans were killed in a five-hour battle and the ancient city was sacked. Days later, even as Cortés gave his now routine sermon to the Indians on the evils of pagan religion, Tlaxcalan warriors returned home with prisoners in tow, destined to be sacrificed to the gods. After the massacre, local Indians began calling the Spaniards popolucas, or barbarians.60

Upon hearing of the slaughter at Cholula, Montezuma “began to suffer a crisis of confidence that found expression in his fateful decision to welcome the Spaniards into Tenochtitlán.”61 Hoping to assuage Cortés’s anger, Montezuma sent messengers bearing “ten plates of gold, fifteen hundred cloaks of cotton, and a good deal of food.”62 Through his emissaries, the Aztec emperor apologized for the unsuccessful ambush and blamed it on rogue subordinates. He also pledged to provide anything Cortés desired if he would turn around and not proceed to Tenochtitlán. When Cortés replied that he could not turn back because he had promised his own king a description of the city, Montezuma invited him to an audience. Cortés’s five hundred men and thousands of Tlaxcalan warriors were allowed to march peacefully into the Aztec capital.

As they descended into the Valley of Mexico, Cortés’s men were a striking spectacle for the local Indians. According to one Nahuatl source, “they came in battle array, as conquerors, and the dust rose in whirlwinds. Their spears glinted in the sun, and their pennons fluttered like bats. They made a loud clamor as they marched, for their coats of mail and their weapons clashed and rattled. Some of them were dressed in glistening iron from head to foot; they terrified everyone who saw them.”63 Awaiting the arrival of the Spanish in Tenochtitlán, Montezuma was terrified. In the meantime, the Spaniards were being approached on their march by local Indians who complained of the emperor’s tax collectors robbing them of all their possessions and violating their wives and daughters. At Amecameca, local dignitaries gave Cortés food, gold, and forty slave girls, who, according to one of the Spanish priests, were “well dressed and well painted.”64

As the Spaniards approached the system of lakes that surrounded Tenochtitlán, they were “visibly impressed by the ordered landscape with its grid plan of towns and temple pyramids, and the regular pattern of raised fields bordered by lines of willows.”65 The Aztec capital was an island at the center of five shallow interconnected lakes. Three long causeways—twenty-five to thirty-five feet wide and with removable bridges—joined the city to the mainland. The first sight of the Aztec metropolis reminded Bernal Díaz of “an enchanted vision from the tale of Amadis. Indeed, some of our soldiers asked whether it was not all a dream. . . . It was all so wonderful that I do not know how to describe this first glimpse of things never heard of, seen or dreamed of before.”66 In his letter to the king of Spain, Cortés knew his words could not do justice to the wonders of Tenochtitlán. “I cannot describe one hundredth part of all the things which could be mentioned, but, as best I can, I will describe some of those I have seen which, although badly described, will, I well know, be so remarkable as not to be believed, for we who saw them with our own eyes could not grasp them with our understanding.”67

With 250,000 inhabitants, Tenochtitlán was one of the largest cities in the world.68 In the early sixteenth century, only four cities in Europe—Naples, Venice, Milan, and Paris—had populations larger than 100,000. Founded in 1325, it was less than two centuries old when the Spaniards arrived. Once a nomadic tribe, the Aztecs had arrived in the Valley of Mexico in the middle of the thirteenth century. In 1454, they began their quest for empire. Through warfare and intimidation, by the end of that century they dominated much of Mesoamerica.

By the early sixteenth century, however, the Aztec empire had reached its limits. For all the advances their people had made in a matter of a few centuries, Aztec society was beset by a foreboding of catastrophe. One of the bases of the Aztec religion held that time on earth was divided into five eras. “The first of these, known as ‘4-Tiger,’ had been destroyed by wild animals; the second, ‘4-Wind,’ by wind; the third, ‘4-Rain,’ by fire; and the fourth, ‘4-Water,’ by floods. The last, the fifth age, that of the [Aztecs], known as ‘4 Motion,’ would, according to myth, one day culminate in a catastrophe brought on by terrifying earthquakes.”69 Astrology played a central role in Aztec society. “Unfavorable signs could paralyze rulers, delay battles, and perhaps even become self-fulfilling prophecies.”70

The Aztecs, according to Juan Bautista Pomar, a sixteenth-century Spanish historian, “had many idols, and so many that almost for each thing there was one.”71 As their empire expanded, the Aztecs incorporated the principal gods of conquered nations into their pantheon. In fact, the very act of conquest was understood as the capturing of an enemy’s principal deity. As for the Aztecs, their primary deity remained Huitzilopochtli, the god of the sun and of war. To ensure that the sun rose every day, the Aztecs nourished him with the blood of human sacrifices so that each night he could successfully battle the moon.

Given the Spaniards’ “godlike technological capabilities (cannons, harquebusiers, sailing ships, horses, metal armor),” it seems certain that the Aztecs initially considered them of supernatural origin.72 That may explain Montezuma’s reluctance to engage them militarily. But by many accounts, Montezuma was also a fatalist and a “tragic figure” who “lived in the shadow of historical inevitability.”73 His efforts to employ diplomacy and magic to keep the Spaniards from the capital had failed. When Cortés and his men reached the gateway to Tenochtitlán, Montezuma was there to welcome them. He invited them to stay in the palace that had belonged to his father. It is possible that the emperor wanted the Spaniards inside the city in order to entrap them later. But if that was Montezuma’s plan, he did not betray it publicly. After a welcoming ceremony, he told Cortés, “Malinche, you and your brothers are in your own house. Rest awhile.”74

Not long after Cortés’s arrival in Tenochtitlán, the Aztecs attacked the Spaniards’ allies, the Totonacs, on the Gulf coast. “Whether in reaction or as a pretext,” Cortés seized Montezuma, and for the next six months ruled his empire through him.75 Before his capture, the Aztec emperor had offered Cortés some jewels and one of his daughters as “a delicious fruit.”76 He also wished to give several noblemen’s daughters to Cortés’s men. Cortés responded in the same way he had in earlier such instances, that he could not accept women as consorts unless they were baptized.

Even while imprisoned, Montezuma “took pains to see that his visitors were plied with attractive women.”77 He provided three hundred women to act as servants to his jailers. Cortés enjoyed the sexual favors of Montezuma’s daughter, Doña Ana, and of his niece, Doña Elvira. Bernal Díaz himself asked Orteguilla, the Spaniard who acted as Montezuma’s warden, to beg the emperor “kindly to give me a very pretty Indian girl. When Montezuma received this message, he sent for me and said: ‘Bernal Díaz del Castillo, they say that you are short of clothes and gold. But today I will tell them to give you a fine girl. Treat her well, for she is the daughter of an important man, and they will give you gold and cloaks as well.’ ”78

Not all Aztec nobles were as compliant as Montezuma. To the contrary, there was growing resentment among them over the emperor’s obsequious posture toward the Spaniards. In the spring of 1520, while Cortés was absent from the city, he left Pedro de Alvarado in charge in Tenochtitlán. For some unknown reason, Alvarado instigated a massacre of thousands of Aztec nobles who had gathered in the courtyard of the Templo Mayor for a religious celebration. In response, Aztec commoners rose in revolt, killed seven Spaniards, and laid siege to their quarters. When Cortés returned, either the Spaniards or the insurgent Aztecs killed Montezuma. At that point, the Spaniards had little choice but to retreat from the city. They did so at night while under attack from all sides. When he reached Tlaxcala, Cortés had lost more than half his men and one thousand Tlaxcalan soldiers.

After la noche triste, the sad night, as the Spaniards called their retreat from Tenochtitlán, Cortés and his men employed ever more brutal tactics against their indigenous enemies. After a period of rest and recuperation, the Spaniards marched on the Aztec dependency of Tepeaca. There, in a “departure from previous practice,” after the battle, Cortés “enslaved the wives and children” of the thousands of men the Spaniards killed.79 The women were then branded on their foreheads or cheeks to signify that they were slaves and sold. But those whom the Spaniards found most attractive usually wound up being taken by the soldiers and used as servants. According to Bernardino de Sahagún, the sixteenth-century Franciscan missionary and archaeologist, the Spaniards enjoyed “beautiful young [Indian] women . . . pretty women, those who were light brown.”80 In order to avoid the Spaniards’ gaze, many such women “smeared their faces with clay, wrapped their hips with old and torn serapes, wore ratty blouses over their bosoms and dressed in plain old rags.”81

After Cortés demanded that taxes be levied on the value of plundered treasure and female slaves, competition among the soldiers over the prettiest women intensified. For accounting purposes, all soldiers were required to bring forward their loot as well as the women they were “sheltering.” According to Bernal Díaz, they found “that not only [was the tax] taken, but all the best-looking women disappeared. There was not a pretty one left.”82 In response to his soldiers’ complaints, Cortés promised that all women would thenceforth be sold at auction with the best-looking fetching the highest prices. Still, soldiers devised ways to keep their captains from stealing the women they had claimed for themselves. “We hid them and took them to be branded, and explained that they had fled,” wrote Bernal Díaz, “and many stayed in our rooms, and we said that they were domestics who had come in peace.”83 The Indian women, however, developed their own strategies to protect themselves as best they could. They learned which Spaniards treated women well and which did not. If a particularly abusive soldier bid on them at auction, some women chose to escape and were never seen again.

Before launching a new offensive on Tenochtitlán, Cortés sought to strengthen his old alliances with indigenous groups as well as create new ones. He sent a delegation to speak with the Purépecha Indians in a region near the Pacific coast in what is now the present-day state of Michoacán. While their leader refused the Spaniards’ offer for them to join the battle against the Aztecs, he did honor their request for girls from noble families. The Spaniards slept with the women on their way back to the Valley of Mexico. The Purépecha men who accompanied the Spaniards on their trip thereafter referred to them as “tarascue” or “sons-in-law” in the Purépecha language.84 The Spaniards thus began to refer to the Purépecha as “Tarascos,” a term by which they have largely been known ever since.

Several months after the noche triste, the Spaniards were aided in their military strategy by a silent but deadly ally. The smallpox virus, which the Spaniards had brought to the New World in 1518, made its way to the Valley of Mexico and reached Tenochtitlán in October 1520. Tens of thousands of Indians—both friends and foes of the Spaniards—perished in its wake, and “a sense of gloom which the [Aztecs] described as the loss of their soul” took hold.85 Even Montezuma’s successor, Cuitláhuac, contracted the disease. When he died, the Aztec nobility selected Montezuma’s young nephew, Cuauhtémoc, as their last emperor.

In order to bring Tenochtitlán to its knees, the Spaniards ultimately employed a strategy that was rare in Mesoamerica. They sought to starve it into submission by cutting off access and supplies to the island city. Waging a war of attrition, each day Cortés sent soldiers to attack the city in several places. After three months, the siege left Tenochtitlán in the grip of famine. The Spaniards, in the meantime, were eating well in their camp outside the city. They had long been accustomed to eating indigenous foods, like tortillas and the fruit of the nopal cactus. Even during the siege, they continued to spend each night with their indigenous mistresses.

Cortés initially had no plans to destroy Tenochtitlán. Indeed, he had hoped to present it like a jewel to the king of Spain. But the fierce resistance of the Aztecs and their refusal to surrender left the Spanish captain with no alternative but to destroy the city. As historian Ramón Eduardo Ruiz observed, “to occupy [the] city, Cortés had to ravage it. No temple, palace, or idol survived the Spanish assault.”86 When the Spaniards finally pushed into the city from the south, the Aztecs retreated north toward Tlatelolco, the site of their great marketplace. By the time Cuauhtémoc was captured there on August 13, 1521, the city reeked of death. Still, Cortés either allowed or could not prevent his indigenous allies—who supplied more than two hundred men for every Spaniard—from continuing to kill and loot for four more days.87 Once the fighting stopped, Cortés ordered the bodies cleared away and the aqueduct repaired. He mapped out where the separate Indian and Spanish quarters of the new city were to be built. For the conquerors, the only remaining loot to be found was women, many of whom were now widowed and “only too glad to go with the victors, and so assure themselves at least of the chance of food.”88

Cortés hoped to administer New Spain in the same fashion as had the Aztec emperors. He intended to rule—and collect tribute—through local leaders. But the Aztecs’ imperial organization had been crushed and humiliated. Shortly after the conquest, Cuauhtémoc and his surviving lieutenants complained to Cortés that the Spaniards had “carried off the daughters and wives of chieftains, and begged him as a favour that they should be sent back.”89 Cortés allowed a few of the former emperor’s men to search the Spanish camps for Aztec women. But he insisted that the women themselves would decide whether to stay or go. According to Bernal Díaz, only three women returned home with Cuauhtémoc’s men. “There were many women who did not wish to go with their fathers or mothers or husbands, but preferred to remain with the soldiers with whom they were living. Some hid themselves, others said they did not wish to return to idolatry, and yet others were already pregnant.”90

After the conquest, just as before, most interracial sexual unions were characterized by concubinage rather than marriage. But the number of legal marriages between Spanish men and Indian women in the early colonial period was not insignificant. In a census taken of the eighty-one male Spanish residents of Puebla in 1534, sixty-five were married, and “20 had married Indian women, a proportion of 30.7 percent.”91 Later arrivals were more likely to have married Indian women than were the conquistadors. Indeed, 36.1 percent of Spanish males in Puebla who arrived in New Spain after the conquest had married Indian women.92 According to anthropologist Pedro Carrasco: “This difference might be related to the fact that the conquerors had been in New Spain longer and had more time to bring their wives from Spain, but it is also probable that their higher status gave them an advantage in competing for Spanish wives in the first decade or two after the conquest, when there were few Spanish women in the colony.”93 In fact, in 1521, there were only seven Spanish women in New Spain.94 Between 1520 and 1540, less than 6 percent of Spanish migrants to Mexico were women.95

Since the early sixteenth century, the Spanish Crown had grappled with the issue of interracial marriage, and its policy often wavered in conformity with theological trends. In 1503, the governor of Hispaniola, Nicolás de Ovando, received instructions from Spain to arrange marriages between some Spaniards and Indians. According to the governor’s instructions, he was to try to ensure that “some Christian men marry some Indian women and that some Christian women marry some male Indians so that they will communicate with and teach one another in matters of Our Holy Catholic Faith.”96 At least for that moment, the Spanish government saw limited intermarriage as a means to an end, the end being the conversion of the Indians to the Catholic faith and their assimilation into European civilization. In July of 1511, King Ferdinand instructed the new governor of Hispaniola, Diego Colón, to eliminate brothels in the Indies and encourage—but not compel—Spaniards to legitimize their unions with Indian women.

This is not to say that the Crown embraced the notion of wide-scale interracial marriage. In 1512, the government sent white female slaves to the Indies to discourage Spaniards from coupling with the Indians, who, according to the royal decree, were “people who are far from possessing reason.”97 Two years later, however, in 1514, the Crown issued a decree legally permitting marriage between Spaniards and Indians. The decree stated, “It is our will that male and female Indians have . . . complete freedom to contract marriage with whomever they wish . . . . And we command that no order of ours . . . or [any orders] that may have been made on our behalf prevent marriage between male and female Indians and male and female Spaniards and that everyone have complete freedom to marry whomever they wish.”98 The logic behind the decree was essentially religious in nature. According to historian José Pérez de Barradas, “if converted Indians were as human as whites, equal to the Spaniards in the divine and human realms, as the theologians had decided, there was no reason whatsoever that would justify forbidding mixed marriages.”99

But the Spanish Church and Crown also understood that there were material and political benefits to promoting limited intermarriage. In 1516, Cardinal Francisco Jiménez de Cisneros of Toledo instructed that Spaniards in the Indies should be encouraged to marry the daughters of Indian caciques when they were “the successors of their fathers in the absence of sons . . . because in that way all the caciques would soon be Spaniards.”100 According to historian Magnus Mörner, there were “quite a number of intermarriages of this category.”101

After the conquest of Mexico, some conquistadors married Indian princesses and daughters of chiefs. Indeed, “The conquerors understood the fact that the indigenous nobility ‘endowed’ their daughters in a manner similar to the [Spanish] practice, a fast method to acquire property and status.”102 Spaniards often acquired land and the service of local Indians through such marriages. After the conquest, “Indian women of high rank seem to have had no difficulty finding a Spanish husband.”103 In a small act of reparation, Cortés provided generous dowries for four of Montezuma’s daughters, thereby allowing them to marry high-ranking Spaniards if they so wished. Doña Isabel, daughter of Montezuma and widow of Cuauhtémoc, married three Spaniards in succession, Alonso de Grado, Pedro Gallego de Andrada, and Juan Cano. The later two marriages produced at least seven children. Spaniard Sebastián de Moscoso married a prominent Indian woman who bore him two daughters and a son. Doña Ana, the daughter of the ruler of Texcoco, married conquistador Juan de Cuéllar. Pedro Moreno de Nájera married a noble Indian woman named Leonor and had four sons and a daughter. Melchor de Villacorta wed Isabel, of a noble Tlaxcalan family, and had two daughters. Doña Marina, Cortés’s former translator and mistress, married Juan Jaramillo, with whom she had a daughter, María. Although it was rare, some Spanish women married into high-ranking Indian families. Several members of the Aztec nobility married Spanish women, including the son and grandson of Montezuma. Spaniard Don Antonio Cortés married a woman cacique from Tacuba, and three members of the Purépecha ruling family in Michoacán married women from Spain.

It was not uncommon for Spanish men who had legitimate children with Indian women to also father illegitimate offspring. A certain Juan Ortiz de Zúñiga had four legitimate and three illegitimate offspring. Gonzalo Hernández de Mosquera had five and eight, while Serván Bejarano had eight and two. In addition to his son Martín, whom he legitimated, Hernán Cortés had two daughters with two other Indian noblewomen who had been given him by caciques. He had also fathered a daughter with an Indian woman in Cuba. “Almost all the conquistadores had illegitimate mestizo children.”104 Alonso Mateos, Antonio Anguiano, García del Pilar, and Hernando de Lorita each had a daughter with Indian women. Alonso Guisado had a son and a daughter. Francisco Granados had many children, and Bernal Díaz del Castillo had a mestizo son. But the Spaniard who seems to have had the most children with Indian women was not a conqueror but a Spanish sailor by the name of Alvaro. He fathered thirty mestizo offspring in three years before he was killed by Indians.

Both civil and religious authorities had grappled with the thorny problems of concubinage and casual unions since the establishment of the first Spanish colony in the Americas. During the conquest phase, civil authorities “were often satisfied with having the Indian women baptized prior to coition.”105 But once Spanish society began to stabilize, the authorities attempted new strategies. When Nicolás de Ovando arrived in Hispaniola in 1501, he found that the three hundred Spaniards on the island “were living in great freedom; they had taken the most important and beautiful women as mistresses.”106 Ovando thus ordered the men to either separate or to marry their mistresses within a given period of time. Despite the fact that many Spaniards considered the order too harsh, they nonetheless complied. This instance, however, was an anomaly. Spanish authorities generally had little success controlling the sexual conduct of Spanish men. In 1529, a bishop in the Antilles complained that since his parishioners were living in sin with their Indian servants, “nothing can be found out about it.”107 The fact that many illegitimate mestizo children were born in rural haciendas far outside of Spanish towns and away from government authority made efforts to discourage concubinage all the more difficult. According to one official source in 1533, in Hispaniola, “there are a great many mestizos here, sons of Spaniards and Indian women who are usually born in [country houses] and uninhabited places.”108 This was also true in post-conquest Mexico. But while widespread concubinage troubled the Church, it infuriated many Indian men. Indeed, they complained of it bitterly. According to historian C. E. Marshall, in 1546 it was one of the primary causes of a bloody Indian rebellion in Yucatán. “So incensed were the natives that they set out to kill all the Spanish settlers and all Indian women who had served them in any capacity.”109

By 1524, Cortés had largely divided up the Indian population of central Mexico among “his companions-in-arms and to a few [Aztecs] who had become Christians.”110 The Spanish Crown had developed the encomienda system in the Caribbean as a way to reward the conquerors for their service. In essence, the individual encomendero was to take on the responsibility of providing for the general welfare and the Christianizing of Indian villages. In return, the Indians would provide the encomendero with both tribute and free labor. (Cortés, for example, received an encomienda of twenty-two villages in which as many as 115,000 Indians lived.) The Crown had “hoped that by this system the Indians would be more easily acculturated, better controlled and protected. What happened in practice was quite another matter, as the system, subjected to every imaginable abuse, kept the Indians in a state of serfdom and led to all sorts of horrors.”111 In 1529, the first bishop of New Spain, Juan de Zumárraga, complained to King Charles I that many encomenderos used the encomienda to procure female concubines. “Many of those who have Indians,” he wrote, “have taken from the chiefs of their villages their daughters, sisters, nieces, and wives under the pretext of taking them to their homes as servants but in reality for concubines.”112 Partly to curb such abuses, in 1539 the Crown decreed that all married encomenderos were to send for their wives and those who were unmarried were given three years to wed or risk losing their encomienda. Many married their Indian mistresses.

Needless to say, the conquistadors were hardly the ideal men to preside wisely over the establishment of a brand-new society. Indeed, they comprised an unlikely aristocracy as “Many were coarse in speech [and] unrefined in manner.”113 But the era of their authority over New Spain was a short one. Not long after the conquest, a more educated and patrician group of men were sent from Spain to administer the new colony. The Crown and the Church sought both to limit the power of the conquistadors and to impose greater administrative and social order. In order to foster the development of stable colonial societies, Spanish authorities sought to restore the sanctity of marriage among the Spaniards and to impose the practice of monogamous marriage on Indians, many of whom practiced polygamy. The Crown prohibited Spaniards from pressing women into household service, while the Church called for harsher penalties for Spaniards who cohabited with Indian women without benefit of clergy. Despite these efforts, however, New Spain remained a “nominally monogamous society, with wide liberties countenanced for males.”114 For their part, many Indians “were only too eager to enter the Spanish households to escape the payment of tribute and personal services which were exacted of them in their tribal villages. Thus there grew up in the vicinity of many Spanish towns colonies of native squatters who had deserted their tribal surroundings to sell their services as domestics and day laborers to the Spanish residents.”115 Juan de Solórzano, the early-seventeenth-century authority on Spanish America, observed that “many Indian women desert their Indian husbands and neglect the children that they have by them, seeing them subject to tribute-payments and personal services, and desire, love, and spoil the children that they have out of wedlock by Spaniards . . . because they are free and exempt from all burdens.”116

Given the fact that mestizo children were commonly the issue of casual sexual liaisons, the process of determining paternity was sometimes difficult, if not impossible. Diego de Ocaña, an early Spanish settler, testified to the confusion that arose concerning the parentage of a child living within his own household:



I say that I once had relations with the said Antonica, my servant, who bore a child Alosico. But she was ill-watched for she also had relations with an Indian of my household. However, judging by the color of the child, everyone declares that he seems to be the son of a Christian. It seems so to me, for it may be that he is my son; and since in case of doubt it is better to acknowledge him than to ignore him, I command my sons to bring him up, have him indoctrinated, and so do something good for him, for I believe that he is a son of mine, and not of an Indian.117





Initially, mestizos did not “form part of any third community or element distinguishable from Indian society and Spanish society. Mixed bloods though they were, they lived either as ‘Spaniards’ or else as ‘Indians.’ Those mestizos born within wedlock, or born without of aristocratic mothers, or who were adopted for some other reason by their fathers, were absorbed into the first generation” of criollos, the term used to denote Spaniards born in the New World.118 Furthermore, a significant number of first-generation mestizos, both legitimate and not, “were raised as Spanish gentlemen and ladies. The Crown approved of this process, for it was thought expedient that the tiny Spanish presence in Mexico should be thus strengthened.”119 But a considerably larger number of mestizos were born to casual unions between Spanish men and Indian women. These children were generally raised as Indians, “learned no Spanish, knew nothing of their fathers, and tended to become a barely distinguishable part of the Indian community.”120 By the mid-sixteenth-century, many Indian caciques were in fact biological mestizos, presumably the offspring of noble women.

It was also true that the mixed offspring born of either casual unions or of the sexual abuse of poor Indian women were sometimes relegated to marginal status or rejected within Indian communities. It was this group, rejected by both Spaniards and Indians, that first came to be recognized as mestizos. In other words, “when the term ‘mestizo’ began to appear in the late 1530s, it referred to marginal individuals—persons of Spanish-Indian descent who were not full members of either group.”121 Indeed, in the early colonial period, the word “mestizo” was synonymous with bastard.

As early as 1523, a royal decree ordered Spaniards to send their mestizo sons to Spain, “probably reflecting a hope to assimilate them.”122 Ten years later, on October 3, 1533, the king issued an order stating that he had been “informed that throughout the land there is a great number of children that Spaniards have had with Indian women, who wander lost among the Indians.”123 He ordered the colonial authorities to gather those mestizo children living in indigenous communities. If it could be ascertained that any of their Spanish fathers were men of means, then they should be ordered to provide for the children. Those whose fathers were not of means or could not be identified were to be taught a trade and given a Spanish education. For this purpose, Spanish authorities founded El Colegio de San Juan de Letrán, a school for mestizo boys, as well as a convent for girls.

However, this patriarchal concern for mestizos was short-lived. In 1568, Phillip II, who had succeeded his father, Charles I, as king of Spain, expressed his concern over the colonial government’s inability to control the growing mestizo population. “It has been reported to me,” read a royal order, “that there are already large numbers of mestizos and mulattoes in those provinces and that they increase every day and are inclined to evil . . . and because they are the sons of Indian women, as soon as they commit a crime they dress up as Indians and hide out with their mothers’ relatives, and they can’t be found.”124 One viceroy of New Spain told the king of his profound fear that “mestizos, mulattoes, and free blacks” would stage a rebellion and “bring after them a large part of the Indians.”125 By the time the first generation of mestizos was reaching adulthood in the 1540s, Spanish authorities began imposing restrictions on their social mobility. For instance, illegitimate mestizos were barred from holding public office. “In one sense this ruling was no different from the bar that applied in the case of Spaniards, for Spaniards born out of wedlock were not eligible for office either, but whereas this bar applied only to a minority of Spaniards, in the case of mestizos it applied to the great majority.”126 The Church, on the other hand, was divided on the issue of ordaining mestizos into the priesthood. While the secular clergy—diocesan priests—were generally open to mestizos, the mendicant orders were not. The guilds also had competing policies regarding mixed blood workers. Some, “like the cotton dealers, glovemakers, milliners, and porcelain-makers, allowed [them] to become craftsmen; others, like the pressers, manglers, and calenderers, restricted mestizos to journeymen status.”127

The Jesuits developed their own rationale with respect to mestizos.They refused them entry into the order, not because they held them in contempt, but because they viewed them as a special group in need of their attention. In their eyes, “mestizos were not so much ‘sons of Spaniards’ as a new and as yet unformed race that stood in particular need of moral and spiritual guidance. Like the [blacks] and mulattoes, the mestizos were, in the Jesuit view, neophytes of the Church, a precious but delicate spiritual acquisition.”128

As mestizos became increasingly recognized as a distinct group—neither Spanish nor Indian—their reputation among the Spaniards deteriorated. “The epithet ‘sons of Spaniards’ [was] used progressively less while the association with [blacks] in the Spaniard’s eyes [became] closer.”129 New Spain had been receiving shipments of African slaves since the earliest days of the colony, and the Spaniards had regarded them with particular disdain. When it became clear that certain Indian groups in the coastal lowlands could not satisfy the labor demands of Spanish colonists, African slaves were imported in large numbers. Furthermore, in Mexico City, which was built on the ruins of Tenochtitlán, it was a sign of status for wealthy Spaniards to have African valets in their service. Between 1521 and 1594, approximately 36,500 slaves arrived in Mexico.130 An estimated 200,000 African slaves were sent to New Spain throughout the colonial period.131

Another reason African slaves were imported to New Spain was that the Crown and Church wished to “shift the burden of enforced labor from the backs of the natives to the stronger backs of the African blacks.”132 While theologians may have wrung their hands over the true nature of the Indian, they generally did not concern themselves with the treatment of Africans. Even Bartolomé de Las Casas, the great defender of the Indians, had suggested in 1517 that each Spaniard be permitted to bring twelve African slaves to the New World as a way to relieve Indian laborers. With the exception of the urban valets who achieved a status higher than that of Indians, black slaves were generally burdened with the most arduous and distasteful tasks. Spanish authorities discouraged blacks from mixing with other groups, at one point even threatening them with castration if they had sexual relations with women of another race. But in 1527, a royal decree urged colonial authorities to encourage slaves to adopt the custom of monogamous marriage and marry female slaves in the hope that “with marriage and their love for wives and children and orderly married life they will become more calm and much sin and trouble will be avoided.”133 Yet, since the ratio of black women to men was never more than one to four, the policy had no effect.

Despite the efforts of colonial authorities, “black men generally took Indian women as mates. In some cases [they] kidnapped and raped the native women, but in most instances the Indian women entered such unions willingly.”134 In 1574, Viceroy Martín Enríquez wrote Phillip II that “the Indian women are very weak people and are easily led astray by the blacks whom they prefer in marriage to the Indian men.”135 African slaves also had practical reasons for fathering children with Indian women. Under Spanish law, the offspring of a male slave and a free woman was born legally free. The rapid increase in the number of black-Indian children troubled colonial authorities. Not only did these children dilute the slave population, but in the eyes of Spanish officials, they posed a threat to the stability of the colony. Already fearful of slave revolts, the Spaniards concluded that a free mixed population would ally itself with slaves against them. In 1573, Viceroy Enríquez asked Phillip II to lobby Pope Gregory XIII to make black-Indian intermarriage illegal or at the very least decree that the children of such unions would remain slaves. The king declined the suggestion.

Despite their fear of black men, many Spanish men found black and mulata women attractive and even came to prefer them over Indian women. In general, “Spanish attitudes towards blacks reflected the tension between antipathy and attraction. As slaves, the blacks occupied a social space inferior to the plebeian Indians, but since as a group they were familiar to Spanish ways, they were at the same time more intimate with the Spaniards and more of a threat.”136 It took only one generation for zambos—people of mixed black-Indian ancestry—and mulattoes—those of white-black mixture—to outnumber Africans in New Spain. By the 1570s, people of black ancestry still outnumbered mestizos. They made up the largest and most visible sector of castas, the generic term Spaniards used to refer to racially mixed people. As historian J. I. Israel observed, the mestizo population “grew up slowly around the fringe of [Spanish society] and in the shadow of the black” population.137 While in theory mestizos were considered gente de razón, rational people with the equivalent intellect of whites, in practice they were increasingly associated with blacks and other gente vil (base folk). As their numbers increased, “Spaniards tended to lump mestizos, mulatos, and free blacks as undesirables.”138 As a result, the barriers between Spaniards and mestizos became more rigid, and marriage between Spaniards and Indians became increasingly rare.

The Spaniards had established colonial Mexican society on the premise that it would consist of two separate “republics,” la república de los españoles and la república de los indios. Immediately after the conquest, Cortés had marked out thirteen square blocks in central Mexico City where the Spaniards were to live. The area surrounding the Spanish city was reserved for Indian inhabitants. Conscious that they were a small ruling minority in an Indian land, the Spaniards viewed residential segregation as a form of self-defense. The Church also perceived segregation and isolation of the Indians to be conducive to their efforts to evangelize the population. Colonial policy was therefore designed to maintain the integrity and stability of each ethnic realm. By 1550, both civil and religious authorities had “delineated the relationship of (only) Spanish and Indian societies to the monarch, [and] regulated their internal structures.”139 African slaves also had their defined legal position in society. But manumitted slaves and “all new peoples recognized as of mixed parentage . . . had no place in the dominant ideology.”140 Because they clearly did not belong in either “republic,” the castas were perceived as a threat to the stability of the society. They “had no preassigned place. They were not Spanish . . . nor could they claim the legitimacy of the land’s original inhabitants. In short [they] were an anomaly.”141

Because mestizos did not fit into the official racial system, Spaniards attempted to ignore their very existence. Some contemporary observers neglected to record the presence of mestizos in colonial society. For example, after Antonio Vásquez de Espinosa, a Spanish priest, visited Mexico City in 1612, he did not even mention the existence of mestizos in his writings. In 1654, a Church official in the capital noted that population statistics for mestizos and other castas were “unknown because of their confused ranks.”142 Thus, although they were the fastest growing segment of seventeenth-century New Spain, the mestizo, in the words of J. I. Israel, received “so little mention that one almost forgets his existence. By comparison with the Indian, Negro, or Spaniard, he is almost nothing; where he does appear, it is usually only as a tag on the end of the much bandied phrase ‘Negroes, mulattoes, and mestizos.’ Thus it may be said that the problem of the seventeenth-century mestizo is, in the first place, the problem of explaining his obscurity.”143

This obscurity is partly explained by the fact that while mestizos became a recognizable third racial category, they did not evolve into a separate social class. As the term “mestizo” took on a negative connotation, biological mestizos who were members of the Spanish and Indian elites dissociated themselves from the new mestizos, those who had no standing in either república. Having no firmly ascribed place in the social order, mestizos tended to fit in where they could. They were “present in every social category and group in the colony.”144 Given their biracial origins, some mestizos became mediators between Spaniards and Indians. In 1578, five of the six interpreters employed by the colonial government were mestizos. Their very heterogeneity afforded them a wide variety of experiences. Some found their niche in long-distance trade. “There was no guise which he did not assume; he could be a ‘Creole,’ ‘Indian,’ cacique, friar, secular priest, ‘mestizo,’ even a ‘mulatto,’ and it is difficult or impossible to say that it was more usual or typical for him to be one rather than another.”145

Still, for the most part, the mestizo “could make only limited use of the heterogenous cultural heritage left him by his varied ancestors.”146 Their dual disinheritance forged a unique mentality in the group that would become the majority population in urban New Spain in the seventeenth century. Historian Charles Gibson labeled the colonial mestizo a “pragmatic opportunist.”147 According to anthropologist Eric Wolf, the mestizo’s “chances of survival lay neither in accumulating cultural furniture nor in cleaving to cultural norms, but in an ability to change, to adapt, to improvise. The ever shifting nature of his social condition forced him to move with guile and speed through the hidden passageways of society, not to commit himself to any one position or to any one spot.”148 Unlike Spaniards or Indians, whose group identities conferred upon them specific legal rights and responsibilities, mestizo identity was legally and socially ambiguous. Thus, mestizos learned to “change [their] behavior as other men assume or doff a mask.”149 As a result, they did not develop a strong corporate identity. “For the mestizo, power is not an attribute of groups. The group exists to back the individual; the individual does not exist for the group.”150

Just as the Spanish view of mestizos shifted over the centuries, it often varied from place to place. While their reputation suffered in cities where they were associated with blacks, on the frontier their white ancestry was emphasized. In 1621, a scholar in the province of Nueva Galicia, which encompassed the present-day states of Jalisco, Nayarit, and southern Sinaloa, described mestizos as “talented, energetic, and honorable, owing to their Spanish blood.”151 Although some Spaniards may have feared a mestizo-black alliance, others were certain that mestizos would remain loyal to the Spaniards. In a letter dated January 9, 1574, Viceroy Enríquez confessed to Phillip II that he was worried about the growth of the mulatto population but not that of the mestizos. “Although there are many among them who lead base lives and have base ways . . . [they] will always follow the faction of the Spaniards, and form a part of those they most respect.”152

One of the Spaniards’ greatest concerns about mestizos and castas in general was the allegedly poor example they set for the Indians. While Spanish authorities acknowledged the integral role the Indians played in the colonial economy, they generally considered mestizos little more than vagabonds. One official sixteenth-century document described them as “lazy persons . . . who do not have a manual trade, nor property from which they can sustain themselves.”153 Vagabondage was already a widespread problem in the colony. Even in the late sixteenth century, the economy of New Spain was still not large enough to sustain the growing settler population. Furthermore, many Spaniards came to the New World with visions of never having to work hard again. In their minds, hard labor was the province of Indians and black slaves.

While mestizos were not the only vagabonds, their role “within this vagrant element gradually expanded, to the point at which the terms vagrant and mestizo often became synonymous.”154 They were blamed for teaching the Indians “their bad customs and idleness and other errors and vices besides.”155 In 1565, a colonial judge complained that the number of vagabonds was “as numerous as the grasses and were increasing by leaps and bounds.”156 That same year, the conqueror’s mestizo son, Martín Cortés, wrote Phillip II, “The viceroy himself told me that every morning in Mexico there arise eight hundred men who have nowhere to eat. . . . In addition to the great number of Spaniards, there are so many Mestizos and Mulattoes that they cover the land and these persons are naturally born with evil tendencies and they do the greatest harm to the natives.”157 At one point, Viceroy Luis de Velasco recommended shipping unruly mestizos and mulattoes off to Spain. In 1559, the conquest and settlement of Florida was approved in part to help relieve the problem of mestizo vagabondage.

This growing class of vagabonds gave impetus to a renewed policy of strict segregation between the Indian and the Spanish repúblicas.As early as 1550, Viceroy Enríquez expelled several “harmful mestizos” from Indian villages. In November 1578, a royal decree categorically forbade mestizos, mulattoes, and blacks from living among the Indians. Three years later, another decree added Spaniards to the list. For the remainder of the colonial period, the Spanish authorities and the Spanish colonial elite would attempt to impose a rigid racial system on a diverse population that had been mixing since the very first days of the conquest.
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